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BOWMAN, Circuit Judge.

Lee Ann Krough alleged that her former employer, Cessford Construction
Company, failed to rehire her for seasonal employment in retaliation for her
complaints of sexual harassment and unequal pay. The District Court* granted
Cessford's motion for summary judgment, and we affirm.

TheHonorable Robert W. Pratt, United States District Judgefor the Southern
District of lowa.



Krough began working at Cessford in 1994 asaflagger. Her employment was
seasonal—Cessford hired her at the beginning of the construction season and let her
go at the season'send. Cessford rehired Krough again as aflagger in both 1995 and
1996. In 1997, Cessford hired Krough for a seasonal quality-control position and
rehired her inthat capacity in 1998 and in 1999. Thislitigation spawned from events
during her 1999 seasonal term of employment. On June 14 of that year, a Cessford
employee named Marvin Baker lodged a harassment claim against another Cessford
employee, J.B. Marks, who was a close friend of Krough. Cessford eventually fired
Marks. On June 25, Krough made a sexual -harassment complaint against Baker and
also complained to Cessford that her predecessor in her quality control position
earned ahigher salary than shedid. Cessford'sequal opportunity employment officer
investigated each allegation, found no wrongdoing, and reported his findings to
Krough. As the District Court explained in some detail, see Krough v. Cessford
Construction Co., 231 F. Supp. 2d 914, 918-19 (S.D. lowa 2002), Krough's behavior
at Cessford subsequently turned sour. She constantly complained to her co-workers
about her wages and threatened to quit. Much of her grumbling concerned her
request for asalary increase for working on acertain federal project even though she
was aware that the federal project did not allow higher wages for her position.
Krough'ssuperior, Ted Huisman, stated that her complaints'really burned [him] up."”
Huisman Dep. at 21.

Cessford did not rehire Krough for the 2000 construction season. She then
filed thislawsuit, claiming that Cessford violated Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of
1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-3(a) (2000), by failing to rehire her in retaliation for her
complaints made on June 25, 1999, of sexual harassment and unequal pay. Krough
also alleged two equal-pay claims under Title VII and the lowa Civil Rights Act.
Cessford successfully moved for summary judgment on all claims, and Krough raises
only theretaliation claim on appeal. Wereview the District Court'sgrant of summary
judgment de novo. Lerohl v. Friends of Minn. Sinfonia, 322 F.3d 486, 488 (8th Cir.
2003). Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine issue as to any
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material fact and the moving party isentitled to judgment asamatter of law. Fed. R.
Civ. P. 56(c).

Because Krough has only circumstantial evidencethat Cessford's decision not
to rehire her wasthe result of her complaints, we analyze her retaliation claimwithin
thefamiliar framework of McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973).
See Mayer v. Nextel W. Corp., 318 F.3d 803, 806-07 (8th Cir. 2003). The initial
burden falls on Krough to establish a primafacie case of retaliatory discrimination.
If she meetsthisburden, the burden shiftsto Cessford to demonstratethat itsdecision
not to rehire Krough was based on legitimate reasonsunrel ated to retaliation. Should
Cessford demonstrate legitimate reasons for its decision, the burden shifts back to
Krough to prove that these reasons were a mere pretext for aretaliatory motive.

After reviewing the record, we conclude that Krough has not established a
prima facie case of retaliatory discrimination. To make out a prima facie case,
Krough was obliged to show that she engaged in activity protected by Title VI, that
an adverse employment action occurred, and that a causal connection linked her
protected activity and the adverse employment action. See Buettner v. Arch Coal
SalesCo., 216 F.3d 707, 713-14 (8th Cir. 2000), cert. denied, 531 U.S. 1077 (2001).
Cessford concedes that Krough's formal complaint made on June 25, 1999, was a
protected activity. Even if we concluded that Cessford's decision not to rehire
Krough was an adverse employment action, we agree with the District Court that
thereisno causal connection between her protected activity and Cessford's decision.
The evidence in the record demonstrates that Cessford took Krough's complaints
seriously and provided Krough with areport of its findings. See Joe McGuire Aff.
at 3-5. Inaddition, Cessford's decision not to rehire Krough came nine months after
her June 25 complaint. Asthe District Court explained, thisgap intimeweakensany
inference of retaliation. See Calder v. TCI Cablevision of Mo., Inc., 298 F.3d 723,
731 (8th Cir. 2002). Krough's best evidence of alink between her protected activity
and Cessford's decision not to rehire her is Huisman's statement that her complaints
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and threatsto quit "really burned [him] up,” but we do not believe that this statement
constitutessuchalink. Huisman'sexasperation with Krough'sfrequent salary-related
complaints is neither unexpected nor unreasonable given that Huisman had earlier
been responsible for securing pay raisesfor Krough, see Krough Dep. at 29, 50, and
that Krough knew that she was ineligible to receive increased pay from working on
Cessford'sfederal project. Insum, weinterpret Huisman'sfrustrationinthe sameway
as did the District Court—as the product of being subject to a series of baseless
complaints, not as evidence of an intent to retaliate.

Because Krough failed to make aprimafacie case of discrimination, we affirm
the District Court's grant of summary judgment in favor of Cessford.

A true copy.
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